Friends Meeting House, Selly Oak

930 Bristol Road, Birmingham, B29 6NB

National Grid Reference: SP 04006 82040

Statement of Significance

The 1926 building has medium heritage significance as an example of a
meeting house designed in a domestic Neo-Georgian style by the Bournville
Village Trust architects. The meeting house was a gift from Edward Cadbury,
the eldest son of George Cadbury.

Evidential value

This is a purpose-built structure of early twentieth century date. The
Birmingham Historic Environment Record has not identified the site for any
archaeological interest.

Historical value
The meeting house overall has medium historical significance. The meeting
house is typical of the small, plain, domestic-style buildings built by the
Bournville Village Trust. It has strong associative value with the Trust and the
Cadbury family.




Aesthetic value

The meeting house is designed in a plain neo-Georgian domestic style typical
of the era. The interior includes some attractive features such as the exposed
timber roof in the main meeting room. The building is largely hidden from the
street, and overall the building has medium aesthetic value.

Communal value

The meeting house has high communal value as a building developed for the
Quakers which has been in use since it opened in 1926. The building provides a
local community focus and its facilities are used by a number of local groups.

Part 1: Core data

1.1 Area Meeting: Central England

1.2 Property Registration Number: 0014960

1.3 Owner: Area Meeting

1.4 Local Planning Authority: Birmingham City Council
1.5 Historic England locality: West Midlands

1.6 Civil parish: Birmingham

1.7 Listed status: Not listed

1.8 NHLE: Not applicable

1.9 Conservation Area: No

1.10 Scheduled Ancient Monument: No

1.11 Heritage at Risk: No

1.12 Date(s): 1926; 1966; 2002

1.13 Architect (s): Bournuville Village Trust; BVT; Peter Hing and Jones.
1.14 Date of visit: 7 November 2015

1.15 Name of report author: Emma Neil

1.16 Name of contact(s) made on site: Harriet Martin
1.17 Associated buildings and sites: Warden’s house

1.18 Attached burial ground: No

1.19 Information sources:

Butler, D.M., The Quaker Meeting Houses of Britain, 1999, vol. 2, pp. 630
Osbourne, J., Selly Oak Friends 1895 — 2000, 2000
Selly Oak Centre Centenary June 1894-1994 Programme of Events, 1994

Clare Barnett and Rebecca Dyde, Local Meeting Survey, October 2015.



Part 2: The Meeting House & Burial Ground: history, contents, use, setting and
designation

2.1 Historical background

Friends in Selly Oak first began to meet in the late nineteenth century, in a Workmen’s Hall
in Elliott Road. From 1892 records indicate that approximately 170 Friends were attending
Sunday evening worship. The Adult School Movement was gaining pace at the same time,
founded by local Quaker philanthropists to address the education needs of the community.
Joseph Sturge, who established British School Rooms in Severn Street was a key figure in the
movement. The classes expanded to the suburbs including to Selly Oak, with George
Cadbury, a Quaker manufacturer and philanthropist among the teachers.

By the late nineteenth century, George Cadbury had started to build Bournville Village which
included buildings for community use, including venues for education, social and worship
under one roof, as part of the ‘Institute’ movement. The Selly Oak Institute on Bristol Road
was built at the expense of George Cadbury and opened in 1894 at a cost of £5,500. The
Institute included a large club room, three committee rooms and a large hall. The Institute
remained the venue for Quaker worship for the Selly Oak Meeting until 1927.

In the early twentieth century, as a result of both declining numbers and the upkeep costs of
the building, Friends considered whether to remain at the Institute or relocate to new
premises. In 1925, Edward Cadbury informed the Friends of a plot of land situated between
Langleys Road and Bristol Road; Selly Oak Friends decided to build a smaller meeting house
at Bristol Road. It is suggested the Bournville Village Trust architect produced the designs
for the meeting house, although a named architect has not been identified. The meeting
house opened in 1927, and the Institute was given to the city to continue as a community
venue.

In 1966, an extension was built to the designs of Bournville Village Trust onto the south west
to accommodate a children’s room and in 2002 Paul Hing and Jones designed the toilet
extension to the northeast.



2.2 The building and its principal fittings and fixtures

Figure 1: Ground floor plan of the meeting house as reconstructed by Butler
(north to the bottom right; not to scale) (Butler (1999), vol. 2, p.630)

The meeting house was built from designs by Bournville Village Trust architects and opened
in 1927. It was extended to the south west in 1966 by Bournville Village Trust with a further
extension in 2002 to provide additional toilet facilities, designed by Peter Hing and Jones.
The materials are brown brick laid in stretcher bond, with white render, and a clay tiled roof.
The plan is roughly L-shape, with a kitchen and additional meeting room within the 1966
extension. The north-west front elevation comprises the gable end of the meeting house with
a central projecting bay forming the entrance, and side pavilions under a hipped roof. The
doorway has a 12-panelled double door, up two steps. The gable of the meeting house above
the doorway has a 12-pane window in a semi-circular arch. The entrance is flanked by two 9-
pane windows. The side elevations of the meeting room have three six over nine paned
windows separated by buttresses. The side pavilion to the north-east was extended in 2002
and a further projection on this elevation contains the boiler room under a cat slide roof with
a double brick chimney stack. To the south west elevation is the single storey hipped roof
extension of 1966 in red brick laid in stretcher bond. The gable end of the rear elevation to
the south east has a 2-light cross window flanked by single light windows with a 2-light cross
window above.

The lobby area is plainly painted white with an inscription on the plaster ‘EDC 1926’ for
Edward Cadbury. The flooring is herringbone parquet and a series of six panelled doors lead
to the storage areas, WC facilities and the main meeting room. The 4-bay meeting room has
an exposed roof structure of three king post trusses with raking struts, carrying three tiers of
purlins. The walls are plastered and painted white with timber panelling to dado height.
There is a perimeter platform on three sides with loose historic benches. The room is well lit
by windows from the north east and south west walls. A doorway to the south west corner
leads to a small lobby area providing access to the piano room, smaller meeting room and
ancillary facilities.



2.3 Loose furnishings

The meeting room contains a clock by Simmons and Son, London which was originally
located in Devonshire House. There are historic benches around the perimeter of the
meeting, which presumably date from the building of the meeting house.
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Figure 2: Simmons & Son clock, Devonshire Figure 3: Benches in the meeting room
House

2.4 Attached burial ground (if any)
Not applicable.
2.5 The meeting house in its wider setting

Selly Oak is a suburb located four miles south west of Birmingham city centre. The meeting
house is located off the south side of Bristol Road, predominately a residential area. The road
is lined with semi-detached and detached houses dating from the beginning of the twentieth
century, built in Arts and Crafts style, the houses are set back from the road, many with
gables facing the road and each with variations in style. The meeting house cannot be seen
from Bristol Road, as it is situated up a long driveway accessed between two dwellings. To
the west is a warden’s bungalow, now privately let. There is a cast iron lamp post to the
north-west of the meeting house. The area surrounding the meeting house is well planted
with trees and shrubs.

A detached burial ground is located at Lodge Hill Cemetery, in the Free Church section
(NGR: SP 02800 82300). The burial ground dates from the time burials at Bull Street
ceased. The burial ground includes Bull Street burials which were re-interred before the
Priory Rooms were constructed. Burials of local Quakers include Richard and Emma
Cadbury, William A Cadbury, John Hoyland and John Henry Barlow who was an
ambassador for peace during the war and the first director of Bournville Village Trust, a post
he held for twenty three years.

2.6 Listed status

Not listed. The meeting house is not considered to be a future candidate for listing but would
merit inclusion on a local list.

2.7 Archaeological potential of the site

The Birmingham Historic Environment Record was consulted and no records have been
identified for the site, it is therefore likely to be of low archaeological potential.



